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ORDER 
 
Adopted:  April 18, 2023 Released:  April 18, 2023 
 

By the Chief, Audio Division, Media Bureau: 

 

1. In this Order, we adopt the attached Consent Decree entered into by the Media Bureau 

(Bureau) and CSN International, Inc. (CSN), the licensee/permittee of the stations listed in section II of 

the Appendix and the proposed assignee of the stations listed in section I of the Appendix.  The Consent 

Decree resolves issues arising from the Bureau’s review of the above-captioned applications for 

Commission consent to the proposed assignment of licenses and transfer of control of CSN (Assignment 

and Transfer Applications).  

2. The Consent Decree resolves the Bureau’s investigation of CSN’s compliance with 
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section 1.17 of the Commission’s rules (Rules).1  Specifically, CSN failed to disclose that it had not 

reported some members of its governing board on various applications as required by the application 

instructions and the Commission’s rules, contrary to CSN’s certifications that the applications were 

complete and satisfied the relevant Commission criteria.2  

3. Pursuant to the terms of the Consent Decree, CSN stipulates that it violated section 1.17 

of the Rules.  The Consent Decree requires, among other things, that CSN make a ten thousand dollar 

($10,000) civil penalty payment to the United States Treasury.  A copy of the Consent Decree is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference. 

4. After reviewing the terms of the Consent Decree, we find that the public interest will be 

served by its approval and by terminating all pending proceedings related to the Bureau’s investigation of 

potential violations of the Rules and the Act in connection with the Assignment and Transfer 

Applications. 

5. Based on the record before us, we conclude that nothing in the record creates a 

substantial and material question of fact as to whether CSN possesses the basic qualifications to hold a 

Commission license or authorization. 

6. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED that, pursuant to section 4(i) of the Act,3 and by the 

authority delegated by sections 0.61 and 0.283 of the Rules,4 the Consent Decree attached hereto IS 

ADOPTED without change, addition, or modification. 

7. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the investigation by the Bureau of the matters noted 

above ARE TERMINATED. 

8. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that copies of this Order shall be sent, by First Class and 

Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, to counsel for CSN, Cary S. Tepper, Esq., Tepper Law Firm, 

LLC, 4900 Auburn Avenue, Suite 100, Bethesda, MD 20814.  

  

  FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION 

 

 

 

  Albert Shuldiner 

  Chief, Audio Division 

      Media Bureau 

 
1 47 CFR § 1.17. 

2 Application File Nos. 0000197399, et. seq. (filed Aug. 11, 2022), 0000194181, et. seq. (filed June 30, 2022), 

0000202702 (filed Oct. 20, 2022).   

3 47 U.S.C. § 154(i). 

4 47 CFR §§ 0.61, 0.283.  
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CONSENT DECREE 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This Consent Decree is entered into by and between the Media Bureau (Bureau) of the 

Federal Communications Commission and CSN International, Inc. (CSN), for the purpose of terminating 

the Bureau’s investigation into CSN’s compliance with section 1.17 of the Commission’s rules (Rules) in 

connection with the above-captioned assignment and transfer of control applications.1  To resolve these 

matters, CSN agrees to pay a civil penalty of $10,000. 

 
1 47 CFR § 1.17. 
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II. DEFINITIONS 

2. For purposes of this Consent Decree, the following definitions shall apply: 

(a) “Act” means the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. § 151 et. 

seq.; 

(b) “Adopting Order” means the order of the Bureau adopting this Consent Decree; 

(c) “Assignment Applications” means the FCC Form 2100, Schedule 314 

applications for consent to assignment of broadcast station licenses, Application 

File Nos. 0000197399 et. seq., 0000194181 et. seq., and 0000202702;   

(d) “Bureau” means the Media Bureau of the Federal Communications Commission; 

(e) “Civil Penalty” means the payment CSN has agreed to pay to the United States 

Treasury; 

(f) “Commission” or “FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission and 

all of its bureaus and offices; 

(g) “CSN” means CSN International, Inc.; 

(h) “Effective Date” means the date on which the Bureau releases the Adopting 

Order; 

(i) “Investigation” means the Bureau’s investigation of the information contained in 

the Assignment and Transfer Applications, as detailed herein;    

(j) “Parties” mean CSN and the Bureau, each of which is a “Party”; 

(k) “Rules” mean the FCC’s rules, found in Title 47 of the Code of Federal 

Regulations;  

(l) “Transfer Applications” means the FCC Form 2100, Schedule 315 applications 

for consent to transfer of control, Application File Nos. 0000205167, et. seq., and 

0000213714 et. seq.;   

(m) “Violations” means CSN’s failure to disclose on the Assignment Applications, as 

originally filed, and previous applications that CSN had not reported all of its 

governing board members as parties to the applications, contrary to its 

certifications on each application that all statements made in the application were 

complete, in violation section 1.17 of the Rules. 

III. BACKGROUND 

3. Section 1.17 of the Rules states that no person may provide, in any written statement of 

fact, “material factual information that is incorrect or omit material information that is necessary to 

prevent any material factual statement that is made from being incorrect or misleading without a 

reasonable basis for believing that any such material factual statement is correct and not misleading.”2  

Even absent an intent to deceive, a false statement may constitute an actionable violation of Section 1.17 

if it is submitted without a reasonable basis for believing that the statement is correct and not misleading.3 

4. Among other things, the broadcast non pro forma assignment of license application forms 

and instructions require the disclosure of information about the proposed assignee and all parties to the 

 
2 See 47 CFR § 1.17. 

3 See Amendment of Section 1.17 of the Commission’s Rules Concerning Truthful Statements to the Commission, 

Report and Order, 18 FCC Rcd 4016, 4017, para. 5 (2003) (subsequent history omitted). 
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application.4  For an entity such as CSN, which is not a for-profit corporation, partnership, or limited 

liability company, each executive officer, member of the governing board, and owner or holder of 5% or 

more of the votes in the applicant is considered a party to the application.5 

5. On each of the Assignment Applications, CSN listed only the members of the governing 

board’s executive committee as parties to the application but did not disclose that it was doing so.6  In 

each case CSN certified that it answered each question on the application based on its review of the 

application instructions, that the application satisfied each of the pertinent standards and criteria set forth 

in the application instructions, and that all statements made in the application were true, complete, 

correct, and made in good faith.7  Because CSN did not disclose that it reported only some of its 

governing board members, its certifications that all statements made in the applications were complete 

was false.8  Only after Commission staff inquired about the accuracy of the information did CSN disclose 

that it had not reported some members of its governing board, contrary to its representations on the 

Assignment Applications, and that it had also done so on previous applications.9  CSN then filed the 

pending Transfer Applications for its existing stations and amended the Assignment Applications to 

report all the members of its governing board.      

6. The Bureau and CSN have negotiated the terms of this Consent Decree that terminates 

the Investigation into the matters discussed above.  As part of this Consent decree, CSN agrees to make a 

Civil Penalty payment of ten thousand dollars ($10,000) to the U.S. Treasury. 

IV. TERMS OF AGREEMENT 

7. Adopting Order.  The provisions of this Consent Decree shall be incorporated by the 

Bureau in an Adopting Order. 

8. Jurisdiction.  CSN agrees that the Bureau has jurisdiction over it and the matters 

contained in this Consent Decree and the authority to enter into and adopt this Consent Decree. 

9. Effective Date; Violations.  The Parties agree that this Consent Decree shall become 

effective on the Effective Date as defined herein.  Upon the Effective Date, the Adopting Order and this 

Consent Decree shall have the same force and effect as any other order of the Commission.  CSN agrees 

that it is required to comply with each individual condition of this Consent Decree.  Each specific 

condition is a separate condition of the Consent Decree as approved.  Any violation of the Adopting 

Order or the terms of this Consent Decree shall constitute a separate violation of a Commission order, 

entitling the Commission to exercise any rights and remedies attendant to enforcement of a Commission 

order. 

10. Termination of Investigation.  In express reliance on the covenants and representations 

in this Consent Decree and to avoid further expenditure of public resources, the Bureau agrees to 

terminate the Investigation.  In consideration for the termination of the Investigation, CSN agrees to the 

terms, conditions, and procedures contained herein.   

11. The Bureau further agrees that, in the absence of new material evidence, it will not use 

the Violations or the existence of this Consent Decree in any action against CSN concerning the matters 

 
4 See Instructions to FCC Form 2100, Schedule 314 at 13-14; Instructions to FCC Form 2100, Schedule 345 at 18-

20.   

5 Id. 

6 See Assignment Applications. 

7 Id. 

8 See 47 CFR § 1.17. 

9 See Assignment Applications.   
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that were the subject of the Investigation, provided that CSN satisfies all of its obligations under this 

Consent Decree.  In the event that CSN fails to satisfy any obligations under this Consent Decree, the 

Bureau may take any enforcement action available pursuant to the Act and the Rules with respect to each 

Violation, and/or the violation of this Consent Decree. 

12. Admission of Liability.  CSN stipulates for purposes of this Consent Decree that it 

violated section 1.17 of the Rules by failing to disclose on the Assignment Applications, as originally 

filed, and previous applications that CSN had not reported all of its governing board members as parties 

to the applications, contrary to its certification on each application that all statements made in the 

application were complete.  CSN acknowledges that the Commission or its delegated authority may 

consider CSN’s admission of liability in this Consent Decree in proposing any future forfeiture against 

CSN in the event that CSN is determined to have apparently committed a violation of the Act, the Rules, 

or of any orders of the Commission after the Effective Date, whether related to the accuracy of CSN’s 

application certifications or otherwise. 

13. Civil Penalty.  CSN agrees to make the Civil Penalty payment to the United States 

Treasury in the amount of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), within thirty (30) calendar days of the 

Effective Date.  CSN acknowledges and agrees that upon execution of this Consent Decree, the Civil 

Penalty shall become a “Claim” or “Debt” as defined in Section 3701(b)(1) of the Debt Collection 

Improvement Act of 1996.10 

14. Payment.  CSN shall send electronic notification of payment of the Civil Penalty to 

Joseph Cohen at Joseph.Cohen@fcc.gov and Christopher Clark at Christopher.Clark@fcc.gov on the date 

said payment is made.  Payment of the Civil Penalty must be made by credit card, ACH (Automated 

Clearing House) debit from a bank account using CORES (the Commission’s online payment system),11 

or by wire transfer.  The Commission no longer accepts Civil Penalty payments by check or money order.  

Below are instructions that payors should follow based on the form of payment selected:12  

• Payment by wire transfer must be made to ABA Number 021030004, receiving bank 

TREAS/NYC, and Account Number 27000001.  A completed Form 159 must be faxed to the 

Federal Communications Commission at 202-418-2843 or e-mailed to 

RROGWireFaxes@fcc.gov on the same business day the wire transfer is initiated.  Failure to 

provide all required information in Form 159 may result in payment not being recognized as 

having been received.  When completing FCC Form 159, enter the Account Number in block 

number 23A (call sign/other ID), enter the letters “FORF” in block number 24A (payment 

type code), and enter in block number 11 the FRN(s) captioned above (Payor FRN).13  For 

additional detail and wire transfer instructions, go to https://www.fcc.gov/licensing-

databases/fees/wire-transfer.   

• Payment by credit card must be made by using the Commission’s Registration System 

(CORES) at https://apps.fcc.gov/cores/userLogin.do.  To pay by credit card, log-in using the 

FCC Username associated to the FRN captioned above.  If payment must be split across 

FRNs, complete this process for each FRN.  Next, select “Manage Existing FRNs | FRN 

Financial | Bills & Fees” from the CORES Menu, then select FRN Financial and the 

view/make payments option next to the FRN.  Select the “Open Bills” tab and find the bill 

number associated with the NAL/Acct. No.  The bill number is the  NAL Acct. No. (e.g., 

 
10  Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-134, 110 Stat. 1321, 1358 (Apr. 26, 1996). 

11  Payments made using CORES do not require the submission of an FCC Form 159. 

12  For questions regarding payment procedures, please contact the Financial Operations Group Help Desk by phone 

at 1-877-480-3201 (option #6), or by e-mail at ARINQUIRIES@fcc.gov. 

13  Instructions for completing the form may be obtained at http://www.fcc.gov/Forms/Form159/159.pdf.  

mailto:Joseph.Cohen@fcc.gov
https://fccoffice-my.sharepoint.com/personal/joseph_cohen_fcc_gov/Documents/CASES/KJCB%20-%20Consent%20Decree/Draft%20Consent%20Decree/Christopher.Clark@fcc.gov
https://apps.fcc.gov/cores/userLogin.do
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NAL/Acct. No. 1912345678 would be associated with FCC Bill Number 1912345678).  After 

selecting the bill for payment, choose the “Pay by Credit Card” option.  Please note that there 

is a $24,999.99 limit on credit card transactions. 

• Payment by ACH must be made by using the Commission’s Registration System (CORES) at 

https://apps.fcc.gov/cores/paymentFrnLogin.do.  To pay by ACH, log in using the FRN 

captioned above.  If payment must be split across FRNs, complete this process for each FRN.  

Next, select “Manage Existing FRNs | FRN Financial | Bills & Fees” on the CORES Menu, 

then select FRN Financial and the view/make payments option next to the FRN.  Select the 

“Open Bills” tab and find the bill number associated with the NAL/Acct. No.  The bill 

number is the NAL/Acct. No. (e.g., NAL/Acct. No. 1912345678 would be associated with 

FCC Bill Number 1912345678).  Finally, choose the “Pay from Bank Account” option.  

Please contact the appropriate financial institution to confirm the correct Routing Number 

and the correct account number from which payment will be made and verify with that 

financial institution that the designated account has authorization to accept ACH transactions. 

15. Qualifications; Agreement to Grant.  The Bureau finds that its Investigation raises no 

substantial and material questions of fact as to whether CSN possesses the basic qualifications, including 

those relating to character, to hold a Commission license or authorization.  Accordingly, the Bureau 

agrees to grant the Assignment and Transfer Applications after the Effective Date, provided that the 

following conditions have been met:  1) the Civil Penalty payment, referenced in paragraph 13 of this 

Decree, has been fully and timely satisfied; and 2) there are no issues other than the Violations that would 

preclude grant of the Assignment and Transfer Applications.    

16. Waivers.  CSN agrees to waive any and all rights it may have to seek administrative or 

judicial reconsideration, review, appeal, or stay, or to otherwise challenge the validity of this Consent 

Decree and the Adopting Order, provided the Consent Decree is adopted without change, addition or 

modification.  If any Party (or the United States on behalf of the Commission) brings a judicial action to 

enforce the terms of the Consent Decree or Adopting Order, no Party will contest the validity of the 

Consent Decree or Adopting Order, and CSN will waive any statutory right to a trial de novo.  CSN 

further agrees to waive any claims they may otherwise have under the Equal Access to Justice Act, 5 

U.S.C. Section 504 and Section 1.1501 et. seq. of the Rules relating to the Consent Decree or Adopting 

Order. 

17. Severability.  The Parties agree that if a court of competent jurisdiction renders any of 

the provisions of this Consent Decree unenforceable, such unenforceability shall not render unenforceable 

the Consent Decree, but rather the entire Consent Decree shall be construed as if not containing the 

particular unenforceable provision or provisions, and the rights and obligations of the Parties shall be 

construed and enforced accordingly.   

18. Invalidity.  In the event that this Consent Decree in its entirety is rendered invalid by any 

court of competent jurisdiction, it will become null and void and may not be used in any manner in any 

legal proceeding. 

19. Subsequent Rule or Order.  The Parties agree that if any provision of this Consent 

Decree conflicts with any subsequent Rule or Order adopted by the Commission (except an order 

specifically intended to revise the terms of this Consent Decree to which CSN does not expressly 

consent), such provision will be superseded by such Rule or Order. 

20. Successors and Assigns.  CSN agrees that the provisions of this Consent Decree shall be 

binding on its successors, assigns, and transferees.   

21. Final Settlement.  The Parties agree and acknowledge that this Consent Decree shall 

constitute a final settlement between the Parties with respect to the Investigation. 

https://apps.fcc.gov/cores/paymentFrnLogin.do
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22. Modifications.  This Consent Decree cannot be modified or amended without the 

advance written consent of all Parties. 

23. Paragraph Headings.  The headings of the paragraphs in this Consent Decree are 

inserted for convenience only and are not intended to affect the meaning or interpretation of this Consent 

Decree. 

24. Authorized Representative.  Each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that it 

has full power and authority to enter into this Consent Decree.  Each person signing this Consent Decree 

on behalf of a Party hereby represents that he or she is fully authorized by the Party to execute this 

Consent Decree and to bind the Party to its terms and conditions. 

25. Counterparts.  This Consent Decree may be signed in counterpart (including 

electronically or by facsimile).  Each counterpart, when executed and delivered, shall be an original, and 

all of the counterparts together shall constitute one and the same fully executed instrument. 

 

      MEDIA BUREAU 

      FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION 

 

   
      By:  ____________________________________ 

             Albert Shuldiner, Chief, Audio Division 

  

 

      Date:  ____4/14/23_________________________ 

 

 

 

 

CSN INTERNATIONAL, INC.  

 

 

      By: _________________________________________ 

       Michael Kestler, President  

        

 

      Date:__________________________________
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      MEDIA BUREAU 

      FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION 
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      By: _________________________________________ 

       Michael Kestler, President  

        

 

      Date:__________________________________

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 05D6EC33-1C26-4E98-8F07-A6D5AB22D4EC

4/14/2023
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APPENDIX 

I. Authorizations Subject to Assignments 

 

a. From Fresh Life Church, Inc. (Assignor) to CSN International, Inc. (Assignee) 

 

Call Sign Service Facility ID City, State File Number 

KYWH FM 93512 LOCKWOOD, MT 0000197399 

K296EM FX 71835 BILLINGS, MT 0000197400 

 

b. From Calvary Chapel Pearl Harbor (Assignor) to CSN International, Inc. (Assignee) 

 

Call Sign Service Facility ID City, State File Number 

NEW FM 767430 HOODSPORT, WA 0000194181 

NEW FM 767224 MOUNT LAGUNA, CA 0000194182 

NEW FM 767193 SOLEDAD, CA 0000194183 

NEW FM 767423 MOSES LAKE, WA 0000194184 

 

c. From Spirit Communications, Inc. (Assignor) to CSN International, Inc. (Assignee) 

 

Call Sign Service Facility ID City, State File Number 

K270AF FX 83335 GROVER CITY, CA 0000202702 

 

II. Authorizations Subject to Transfers 

   

a. CSN International, Inc. (Licensee) From CSN International, Inc. (Old Board) 

(Transferor) to CSN International, Inc. (New Board) (Transferee), Application File No. 

0000213714, et. seq. 

 

Call Sign Service Facility ID City, State File Number 

NEW FM 775505 PALMER, AK 0000213714 

NEW FM 775563 AUKE BAY, AK 0000213715 

NEW FM 775824 NORTH POLE, AK 0000213716 

NEW FM 776330 NORTH POLE, AK 0000213717 

 

b. CSN International, Inc. (Licensee) From CSN International, Inc. (Old Board) 

(Transferor) to CSN International, Inc. (New Board) (Transferee), Application File No. 

0000205167, et. seq. 

 

Call Sign Service Facility ID City, State File Number 

KAWZ FM 8414 TWIN FALLS, ID 0000205167 

K214CT FX 84432 MARIPOSA, CA 0000205168 

K204EU FX 92229 ELKO, NV 0000205169 

W208BA FX 12407 MYRTLE BEACH, SC 0000205170 

K210DY 
FX 

93402 

BLACK CANYON 

CITY, AZ 0000205171 

K211FE FX 92263 WINNEMUCCA, NV 0000205172 
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K216EH FX 91971 COLTON, OR 0000205173 

W213BY FX 92936 HUNTSVILLE, AL 0000205174 

W218BV FX 77975 WAYNESBORO, MS 0000205175 

K206CY FX 122262 POCATELLO, ID 0000205176 

K211DS FX 92772 PARIS, TX 0000205177 

K210DP FX 79206 COOS BAY, OR 0000205178 

K240CD FX 71988 SOQUEL, ETC., CA 0000205179 

K218DN 
FX 

88253 

GALLATIN 

GATEWAY, ET, MT 0000205180 

K218DE FX 92689 JONESBORO, AR 0000205181 

K205DM FX 92498 GLIDE, OR 0000205182 

KWCF FM 90842 SHERIDAN, WY 0000205183 

KQXI FM 170239 GRANITE FALLS, WA 0000205184 

K258AP FX 93836 WHITEFISH, MT 0000205185 

K271AR FX 143727 COOS BAY, OR 0000205186 

WGWS 
FM 

172973 

ST. MARY'S CITY, 

MD 0000205187 

W224CP FX 138593 HIGH POINT, NC 0000205188 

K214ET 
FX 

77025 

SAN LUIS OBISPO, 

CA 0000205189 

K219LN FX 93799 KERNVILLE, CA 0000205190 

K220HI FX 92437 CLARKSTON, UT 0000205191 

K202CC FX 77062 PROVO, UT 0000205192 

K288BO FX 72012 PASO ROBLES, CA 0000205193 

K215CW FX 92312 GLENDIVE, MT 0000205194 

W211AY FX 77607 MENOMONIE, WI 0000205195 

K210CN FX 92022 BELLINGHAM, WA 0000205196 

K212GA FX 92087 EVANSTON, WY 0000205197 

K206CX FX 122263 AMMON, ID 0000205198 

K201FG FX 92314 CULBERTSON, MT 0000205199 

W207CH FX 92864 BLUE RIDGE, GA 0000205200 

K212FS FX 91592 KIHEI, HI 0000205201 

K208FS FX 92436 FORT MORGAN, CO 0000205202 

K202ED 
FX 

86755 

MOUNT VERNON, 

WA 0000205203 

KIPA AM 33324 HILO, HI 0000205204 

K212FW FX 8437 JOPLIN, MO 0000205205 

K298AF FX 72000 SHASTA, CA 0000205206 

KIMW FM 191575 HEFLIN, LA 0000205207 

KCIF FM 81518 HILO, HI 0000205208 

K252CK FX 71995 SALINAS, CA 0000205209 

K205DT FX 94146 INDIO, CA 0000205210 

K201FO FX 92353 JENNINGS, LA 0000205211 

KTJC FM 92487 KELSO, WA 0000205212 
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K220HG FX 92319 ELKO, NV 0000205213 

W291AN FX 87017 EDEN, NC 0000205214 

KTYJ-LP LPA 15648 COEUR D'ALENE, ID 0000205215 

K218CE 
FX 

76660 

MARSHALLTOWN, 

IA 0000205216 

K220II FX 122157 LAKEVIEW, OR 0000205217 

K208FE FX 79216 TOPEKA, KS 0000205218 

W258BT FX 92941 PERRYSBURG, OH 0000205219 

K272DV 
FX 

87429 

MOUNTAIN HOME, 

ID 0000205220 

K201FD FX 92132 FORKS, WA 0000205221 

K212EY FX 85364 SANDPOINT, ID 0000205222 

K258BV 
FX 

121882 

KETCHUM/HAILEY, 

ID 0000205223 

K275AL 
FX 

150758 

DENHAM SPRINGS, 

LA 0000205224 

K208FD FX 92600 ELK CITY, OK 0000205225 

K215EQ FX 71998 LOMPOC, CA 0000205226 

K201FF FX 92129 WINNEMUCCA, NV 0000205227 

WIFF FM 2868 WINDSOR, NY 0000205228 

W204CD FX 92766 PANAMA CITY, FL 0000205229 

K206EG FX 77537 PORTALES, NM 0000205230 

K218CP 
FX 

90737 

SANTA BARBARA, 

CA 0000205231 

W219CX FX 94033 RICHMOND, VA 0000205232 

K271CJ FX 72007 SCOTIA, CA 0000205233 

K255CW FX 93794 BILLINGS, MT 0000205234 

W214BN FX 93156 MALBIS, AL 0000205235 

K212DK FX 92870 WESTWOOD, CA 0000205236 

K266BJ FX 122265 BURLEY, ID 0000205237 

K204ES FX 92001 BRAINERD, MN 0000205238 

W228BE 
FX 

138597 

WINSTON SALEM, 

NC 0000205239 

K202EH FX 90256 GOLD BEACH, OR 0000205240 

K264CG FX 142426 FERNLEY, NV 0000205241 

K266BK FX 91845 MISSOULA, MT 0000205242 

K214ED FX 91104 BAKERSFIELD, CA 0000205243 

K273AI FX 93257 ARIEL, WA 0000205244 

K218DP FX 90439 CAVE JUNCTION, OR 0000205245 

K204DN FX 92655 PARAGOULD, AR 0000205246 

W218CU FX 91309 CARO, MI 0000205247 

K205CK 
FX 

8419 

GRAND JUNCTION, 

CO 0000205248 

K212DG FX 91956 BUSHLAND, TX 0000205249 

K257GV FX 203183 HILO, HI 0000205250 
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W207CG 
FX 

140701 

BOWLING GREEN, 

KY 0000205251 

K206EJ FX 86906 KAILUA KONA, HI 0000205252 

K204DT FX 93707 ROGERSVILLE, MO 0000205253 

KBJF 
FM 

174640 

SARATOGA 

SPRINGS, UT 0000205254 

K278AR FX 143030 MOSCOW, ID 0000205255 

K209CY FX 90667 BLYTHE, CA 0000205256 

WSMA FM 122202 SCITUATE, MA 0000205257 

K297BH 
FX 

91872 

MOUNT VERNON, 

WA 0000205258 

K262AI FX 76791 LARAMIE, WY 0000205259 

KLWD FM 84184 GILLETTE, WY 0000205260 

K272EY FX 92542 CHICKASHA, OK 0000205261 

W244CD 
FX 

88246 

BROWNS SUMMIT, 

NC 0000205262 

KPIJ FM 92491 JUNCTION CITY, OR 0000205263 

K221DV FX 92815 KAMILCHE, WA 0000205264 

K288DR 
FX 

72006 

DESERT HOT 

SPRINGS,, CA 0000205265 

W204BK FX 92654 SHERWOOD, WI 0000205266 

K237GK FX 56806 DORRIS, CA 0000205267 

W224BS FX 140013 ROANOKE, VA 0000205268 

K201FW FX 93377 LOS GATOS, CA 0000205269 

K204EQ FX 92597 WOODWARD, OK 0000205270 

K215CX FX 92320 LOVELOCK, NV 0000205271 

K267AJ FX 91890 MT. SHASTA, CA 0000205272 

W206AY FX 91849 FRUITLAND, MD 0000205273 

W220EH FX 93847 GAINESVILLE, GA 0000205274 

KEFS FM 122934 NORTH POWDER, OR 0000205275 

K273AJ FX 91973 ELWOOD, OR 0000205276 

K228ED FX 154989 THERMOPOLIS, WY 0000205277 

K210EV FX 91412 PINE GROVE, CA 0000205278 

K292FF FX 138666 TERRELL WELLS, TX 0000205279 

K219KQ FX 91357 PAYSON, AZ 0000205280 

W225AJ FX 138636 SANDY, SC 0000205281 

W205BJ FX 89524 CHARLESTON, SC 0000205282 

K201IH FX 91413 NAPA, CA 0000205283 

W201DM FX 122159 WOODSTOCK, GA 0000205284 

K218DU FX 8434 RIDGECREST, CA 0000205285 

K218ER FX 92798 BERLIN, OK 0000205286 

K214EL FX 78529 HOLBROOK, AZ 0000205287 

W237DR FX 87024 MARTINSVILLE, VA 0000205288 

K203EU FX 77282 HUTCHINSON, KS 0000205289 
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K206DF FX 91893 TALMAGE, CA 0000205290 

K297BD FX 91810 GREENWATER, WA 0000205291 

W203BH FX 78537 MACON, GA 0000205292 

K201IP FX 92423 STERLING, CO 0000205293 

K220FY FX 77127 SITKA, AK 0000205294 

K205EK FX 8422 SUSANVILLE, CA 0000205295 

K220IJ FX 92420 YUMA, CO 0000205296 

K238AY FX 142325 RIO LINDA, CA 0000205297 

W214AR FX 78019 OSWEGO, NY 0000205298 

K265EY FX 86881 CASCADE, ID 0000205299 

K228DU FX 143019 CLARKSTON, WA 0000205300 

K201DH FX 77128 PENDLETON, OR 0000205301 

K204DX FX 91767 SAN ANTONIO, TX 0000205302 

K289AK FX 142691 ORTING, WA 0000205303 

K216FI FX 77051 HONOLULU, HI 0000205304 

K209FR FX 92651 ABERDEEN, SD 0000205305 

K218CX FX 92020 YAKIMA, WA 0000205306 

W296DI FX 138690 SENECA FALLS, NY 0000205307 

K237EW FX 150763 PORT ALLEN, LA 0000205308 

K205EG FX 91527 THE DALLES, OR 0000205309 

K207ER FX 91484 BURNEY, CA 0000205310 

K256DI FX 200925 SEBREE, ID 0000205311 

K213FA FX 93953 GRAND RAPIDS, MN 0000205312 

W207CD FX 8423 HAMLER, OH 0000205313 

K216FA FX 93062 QUARTZ HILL, CA 0000205314 

K216FR FX 92560 CLINTON, OK 0000205315 

K218EV 
FX 

93262 

BATTLE MOUNTAIN, 

NV 0000205316 

K204CZ FX 88517 KENNEWICK, WA 0000205317 

K200AA FX 83363 SUN VALLEY, NV 0000205318 

K207CE FX 78615 COTTONWOOD, CA 0000205319 

K281BO FX 92863 CLIFTON, AZ 0000205320 

KJFT FM 93587 ARLEE, MT 0000205321 

W206AR FX 82785 FLORENCE, SC 0000205322 

K220GI FX 86642 CAMP VERDE, AZ 0000205323 

K218DF FX 106582 CLE ELUM, WA 0000205324 

W207CE FX 78766 KEY WEST, FL 0000205325 

K209FO FX 89649 OLYMPIA, WA 0000205326 

K201HB FX 92767 ABERDEEN, SD 0000205327 

W285DI FX 2869 BINGHAMTON, NY 0000205328 

K259AU FX 139416 STOCKTON, CA 0000205329 

KLKI FM 90917 DOLAN SPRINGS, AZ 0000205330 

K201EN FX 89734 EVERETT, WA 0000205331 
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W219DN 
FX 

122820 

ELIZABETH CITY, 

NC 0000205332 

K216CX FX 8425 YUCCA VALLEY, CA 0000205333 

W201CF FX 91284 BALDWIN, MI 0000205334 

K216DG FX 77115 KETCHIKAN, AK 0000205335 

K206ET FX 85652 GRANGEVILLE, ID 0000205336 

K211DC FX 78969 LAS VEGAS, NV 0000205337 

K217FX FX 87699 GROOM CREEK, AZ 0000205338 

W204BP FX 91966 EAU CLAIRE, WI 0000205339 

K202DT FX 91875 CANYONVILLE, OR 0000205340 

K212GF FX 79364 LAS CRUCES, NM 0000205341 

K212AK FX 72002 CORVALLIS, OR 0000205342 

K206CI FX 92796 MOORELAND, OK 0000205343 

K208DH FX 91129 AMARILLO, TX 0000205344 

K276EO FX 139145 MERLIN, OR 0000205345 

KEFX FM 8432 TWIN FALLS, ID 0000205346 

K220KA FX 121236 KERRVILLE, TX 0000205347 

K205EJ FX 92074 CHESTER, CA 0000205348 

KKJA FM 92285 REDMOND, OR 0000205349 

W204CP FX 106487 WESTPORT, KY 0000205350 

K217GG FX 92797 KALAOA, HI 0000205351 

W215BE 
FX 

92421 

DIBERVILLE/BILOXI, 

MS 0000205352 

K207DJ FX 106681 LAKE ISABELLA, CA 0000205353 

K211FZ FX 92021 AUSTIN, TX 0000205354 

K279AK FX 151518 GRANGER, WA 0000205355 

KNGW FM 176566 JUNEAU, AK 0000205356 

K206BW FX 82219 ADEL, IA 0000205357 

K215FK FX 8420 SPARKS, NV 0000205358 

W220CD FX 90071 ENKA, NC 0000205359 

K210EN FX 83977 JOSHUA TREE, CA 0000205360 

K217DN 
FX 

93087 

RIEPETOWN/ELY, 

NV 0000205361 

K204DQ FX 93158 WICHITA, KS 0000205362 

K204DK FX 92862 CHICO, CA 0000205363 

W224BC FX 138589 BURLINGTON, NC 0000205364 

K214CM FX 77106 ROSEBURG, OR 0000205365 

W214BQ FX 93256 BRENTWOOD, TN 0000205366 

K220JU FX 89823 NAMPA, ID 0000205367 

W219BY FX 88245 MOUNT OLIVE, NC 0000205368 

K201FP FX 92559 ARAPAHO, OK 0000205369 

W213BP 
FX 

89379 

SOUTH 

PORTSMOUTH, KY 0000205370 

K207CW FX 92540 PARIS, AR 0000205371 
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K260AN FX 143010 CLARKSTON, WA 0000205372 

KJCC FM 122517 CARNEGIE, OK 0000205373 

K216FQ FX 71984 SANTA MARIA, CA 0000205374 

K279BV 
FX 

92958 

JOHNSTONVILLE, 

CA 0000205375 

K206DM FX 87314 BREMERTON, WA 0000205376 

K285EW 
FX 

72004 

SAN LUIS OBISPO, 

CA 0000205377 

K256BQ FX 77116 BRANSON, MO 0000205378 

K201HS FX 155135 WORLAND, WY 0000205379 

K208FX FX 88141 TWISP, WA 0000205380 

W201CC FX 91293 BUFORD, GA 0000205381 

KOGJ FM 174802 KENAI, AK 0000205382 

K238AL FX 139540 REEDSPORT, OR 0000205383 

K223BC FX 148441 NACHES, WA 0000205384 

W238DB FX 200906 TAZEWELL, VA 0000205385 

K217DR FX 93680 GRANGEVILLE, ID 0000205386 

K217GC FX 92311 NEVADA, MO 0000205387 

K203DP FX 122156 ARGENTA, NV 0000205388 

K219LD FX 122160 RAPID CITY, SD 0000205389 

W246AS FX 141241 OLYMPIA, SC 0000205390 

K218FK FX 91003 HAPPY CAMP, CA 0000205391 

W203BG FX 12403 CONWAY, SC 0000205392 

W218BX FX 89261 BLUFFTON, SC 0000205393 

K207DQ FX 93077 FLORENCE, OR 0000205394 

K277BW FX 82391 RENO, NV 0000205395 

W216BW FX 93906 HAMBURG, IN 0000205396 

KGNR FM 37433 JOHN DAY, OR 0000205397 

W288CI FX 141076 NASHVILLE, TN 0000205398 

K207CP 
FX 

89733 

SOUTH LAKE 

TAHOE, NV 0000205399 

NEW FM 775565 SITKA, AK 0000205400 

K268AS FX 141013 BOZEMAN, MT 0000205401 

K258AR FX 139549 CLOVERDALE, OR 0000205402 

W213BE FX 93159 SNELLVILLE, GA 0000205403 

K212EJ FX 76658 SCOTTSBLUFF, NE 0000205404 

KTBJ FM 76989 FESTUS, MO 0000205405 

K220HE FX 91974 CHEHALIS, WA 0000205406 

K203CQ FX 77061 TOOELE, UT 0000205407 

K202DS FX 91288 PORT ANGELES, WA 0000205408 

K216DF FX 77070 KODIAK, AK 0000205409 

W204BW FX 8424 GULF BREEZE, FL 0000205410 

W201CH FX 92801 S. CHARLESTON, SC 0000205411 

KGDL FM 171016 TRENT, TX 0000205412 
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W236AL FX 138590 SUMMERFIELD, NC 0000205413 

K251BI FX 151108 BELLEVUE, CA 0000205414 

W217BL FX 93157 JACKSONVILLE, FL 0000205415 

K211DD FX 76687 YUMA, AZ 0000205416 

K260BT FX 154792 RAPID CITY, SD 0000205417 

K214EM FX 92762 DURANT, OK 0000205418 

W298BL FX 93658 THOMASVILLE, GA 0000205419 

W213CB FX 93954 COVINGTON, KY 0000205420 

W203BO FX 77055 ATHENS, GA 0000205421 

K271BH FX 8429 PINETOP, AZ 0000205422 

K208EY FX 86506 WENATCHEE, WA 0000205423 

W205CM FX 92411 MANITOWOC, WI 0000205424 

K294CV FX 89202 POWELL BUTTE, OR 0000205425 

K224CV FX 139387 CASCADE, ID 0000205426 

WUJC FM 122209 ST. MARKS, FL 0000205427 

W283AW FX 140901 TALLAHASSEE, FL 0000205428 

W203AY FX 91393 GOLDEN LAKES, FL 0000205429 

W215CE FX 77342 CAPE MAY, NJ 0000205430 

W214AY FX 89602 WALKER, MI 0000205431 

KQDL FM 174458 HINES, OR 0000205432 

K215FN FX 121782 DES MOINES, IA 0000205433 

W209BM FX 93795 DE PERE, WI 0000205434 

K256AN FX 139380 MCCALL, ID 0000205435 

K212EK FX 76689 VICTORVILLE, CA 0000205436 

WYJC FM 122010 GREENVILLE, FL 0000205437 

K203ER FX 143013 CLARKSTON, WA 0000205438 

W203BY 
FX 

77535 

WARNER ROBINS, 

GA 0000205439 

K212EO FX 76809 EL PASO, TX 0000205440 

K254BF FX 92350 OROVILLE, CA 0000205441 

K207DS FX 92759 WISTER, OK 0000205442 

K207EI FX 78541 EMPORIA, KS 0000205443 

K212BD FX 8427 BARSTOW, CA 0000205444 

K202EJ FX 93021 WELLSVILLE, UT 0000205445 

K279AL FX 150752 BATON ROUGE, LA 0000205446 

K220EU FX 21099 ERWINVILLE, LA 0000205447 

K215EG FX 85731 GALLUP, NM 0000205448 

W274AM FX 157478 LOUISVILLE, KY 0000205449 

K218EU 
FX 

92260 

NORTH SAN JUAN, 

CA 0000205450 

K215EH FX 89650 KAILUA, HI 0000205451 

K272DX FX 142323 GRASS VALLEY, CA 0000205452 

K201DP FX 82787 ST. GEORGE, UT 0000205453 
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W215CF 
FX 

78733 

MILLEDGEVILLE, 

GA 0000205454 

K247AQ FX 139138 ASHLAND, OR 0000205455 

K249AQ 
FX 

71986 

SAN ARDO & 

BRADLEY, CA 0000205456 

K206DW FX 92602 CRESTON, IA 0000205457 

K266BG FX 93289 EDMOND, OK 0000205458 

K201FQ FX 92769 HILO, HI 0000205459 

K220IN FX 121763 PORTLAND, OR 0000205460 

K212DJ FX 92163 CLEARLAKE, CA 0000205461 

KDJC FM 121839 BAKER, OR 0000205462 

W206AT FX 76657 SAVANNAH, GA 0000205463 

K288FT FX 138942 PORTLAND, OR 0000205464 

K208DS FX 92825 CHEROKEE, IA 0000205465 

K205EB FX 122260 LANAI CITY, HI 0000205466 

K204DM FX 92613 YREKA, CA 0000205467 

K254AR FX 88576 TRUCKEE, CA 0000205468 

K212DB FX 90750 MOSES LAKE, WA 0000205469 

K215DX 
FX 

91591 

ROUND MOUNTAIN, 

NV 0000205470 

K201FJ FX 92315 WILLISTON, ND 0000205471 

K206DH FX 88571 WINSLOW, AZ 0000205472 

K201CW FX 8431 MOAB, UT 0000205473 

K220IA FX 106581 MAPLE CREEK, CA 0000205474 

K201DV FX 77718 BROOKINGS, OR 0000205475 

K204ET FX 77003 ABERDEEN, WA 0000205476 

WKQY FM 64665 TAZEWELL, VA 0000205477 

K212DQ FX 122154 LAKEVIEW, OR 0000205478 

W218CM FX 92761 GLASGOW, KY 0000205479 

K201IN FX 78524 HAMILTON, MT 0000205480 

W287DO FX 138655 LEBANON, TN 0000205481 

W220CC FX 89016 JOHNSONVILLE, TN 0000205482 

W273AJ FX 138669 ATHENS, AL 0000205483 

K249EW FX 56805 SHASTA, CA 0000205484 

W209CI FX 94040 BINGHAMTON, NY 0000205485 

K213DX FX 92774 HINES, OR 0000205486 

K216FU FX 92615 ISLAND CITY, OR 0000205487 

K220JV FX 71991 BYRON, CA 0000205488 

K212GE FX 78522 LIHUE, HI 0000205489 

K205CJ FX 37440 PRAIRIE CITY, OR 0000205490 

K275BW FX 93040 SEQUIM, WA 0000205491 

K205DF FX 89775 ENUMCLAW, WA 0000205492 

K213CK FX 88127 MONTROSE, CO 0000205493 
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K217EM FX 93793 BILLINGS, MT 0000205494 

WXPD FM 766380 WHEATFIELD, IN 0000205495 

K295BS FX 92678 BENTONVILLE, AR 0000205496 

K280BK FX 71989 SELMA, OR 0000205497 

K206DL 
FX 

92481 

GRANITE 

FALLS/EVERET, WA 0000205498 

K272AY FX 71987 CRESCENT CITY, CA 0000205499 

KWYC FM 87267 CHEYENNE, WY 0000205500 

K208ET FX 93152 TONOPAH, NV 0000205501 

K216AX FX 71971 LAUREL, CA 0000205502 

K220HT FX 93218 ST. LOUIS, MO 0000205503 

K217EQ FX 78540 COALINGA, CA 0000205504 

K201FX FX 93759 RENO, TX 0000205505 

K234AL FX 151436 SONORA, CA 0000205506 

K216GJ FX 78527 HELENA, MT 0000205507 

W207BA FX 89658 HAMMETT, PA 0000205508 

K217FM FX 92763 NORFOLK, NE 0000205509 

K213CQ FX 89166 SALT LAKE CITY, UT 0000205510 

KHJC FM 81138 LIHUE, HI 0000205511 

W214CE FX 91287 GREENVILLE, SC 0000205512 

K220GL FX 87709 PLEASANTON, TX 0000205513 

KJCU FM 87930 FORT BRAGG, CA 0000205514 

W204AL FX 12405 KINGSTREE, SC 0000205515 

K204DO FX 92518 PINE BLUFF, AR 0000205516 

KAWS FM 8417 MARSING, ID 0000205517 

W229AH FX 139248 EASTPORT, FL 0000205518 

K220JS FX 88130 ONTARIO, OR 0000205519 

K220JY FX 76817 ODESSA, TX 0000205520 

K296BS FX 71972 MEDFORD, OR 0000205521 

KGFJ FM 172645 BELT, MT 0000205522 

W220BX FX 88126 YORK, PA 0000205523 

W205BY FX 88320 LEXINGTON, NC 0000205524 

K219LS FX 72005 GARBERVILLE, CA 0000205525 

K246BB FX 139146 KENO, OR 0000205526 

K258CE FX 157551 FORT SMITH, AR 0000205527 

K212DF FX 91892 RED BLUFF, CA 0000205528 

K206CJ FX 91156 ISSAQUAH, WA 0000205529 

K240AK FX 71978 SOLEDAD, CA 0000205530 

K208CG 
FX 

76176 

OKLAHOMA CITY, 

OK 0000205531 

K222BH FX 78965 ST. JOSEPH, MO 0000205532 

K259CA FX 88496 CALIENTE, CA 0000205533 

K220JX FX 91843 MISSOULA, MT 0000205534 
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K209FQ FX 91130 SHELTON, WA 0000205535 

K211FH FX 92828 SHELTON, WA 0000205536 

K213DT FX 106679 KERRVILLE, TX 0000205537 

KNMA FM 122932 TULAROSA, NM 0000205538 

K220IR FX 77019 LEWISTON, CA 0000205539 

K239AC FX 81218 GARDEN CITY, ID 0000205540 

K220GJ 
FX 

87499 

BORREGO SPRINGS, 

CA 0000205541 

K223AM FX 106680 WELLS, NV 0000205542 

KWRC FM 90500 HERMOSA, SD 0000205543 

WWUN-

FM 
FM 

16523 
FRIAR'S POINT, MS 

0000205544 

K201EY FX 91808 KALISPELL, MT 0000205545 

KJCH FM 90263 COOS BAY, OR 0000205546 

K204FR FX 92131 LOVELOCK, NV 0000205547 

W207BQ FX 91844 COLUMBIA, SC 0000205548 

K214EE FX 91850 YANKEE HILL, CA 0000205549 

K206EH FX 122005 SPRAGUE RIVER, OR 0000205550 

K213EH FX 92826 CHICO, CA 0000205551 

K218CF 
FX 

78621 

NEW BRAUNFELS, 

TX 0000205552 

KVJC FM 91804 GLOBE, AZ 0000205553 

KLWL FM 176981 CHILLICOTHE, MO 0000205554 

K212FQ FX 153118 SALMON, ID 0000205555 

K238AJ FX 138679 HAYFORK, CA 0000205556 

K220JW FX 122267 LAS VEGAS, NV 0000205557 

K201FK FX 92415 BURLINGTON, CO 0000205558 

K201IQ FX 42935 FERGUS FALLS, MN 0000205559 

W203AZ FX 92786 CHATTANOOGA, TN 0000205560 

K217GE FX 91593 KIHEI, HI 0000205561 

W219DU FX 92893 BRUNSWICK, GA 0000205562 

K267BM FX 90378 LANGLOIS, OR 0000205563 

W213BI FX 77110 DECATUR, IL 0000205564 

K210DS FX 92634 BROOKINGS, OR 0000205565 

K217DG FX 92133 RAWLINS, WY 0000205566 

K201ES FX 90670 RIPLEY/BLYTHE, CA 0000205567 

K201IS FX 91871 RINCON, CA 0000205568 

K206CL FX 92352 CHINOOK, WA 0000205569 

K295CG FX 8435 GREAT FALLS, MT 0000205570 

K203EB FX 78619 FARMINGTON, NM 0000205571 

K220IK FX 92414 LIMON, CO 0000205572 

KMHI 
AM 

72657 

MOUNTAIN HOME, 

ID 0000205573 

W211BV FX 141234 LEXINGTON, SC 0000205574 
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K207CT FX 91286 LAKEHEAD, CA 0000205575 

W204BH FX 92374 BOONES MILL, VA 0000205576 

K275BO FX 72001 LAS CRUCES, CA 0000205577 

W216BX 
FX 

92626 

BENTON HARBOR, 

MI 0000205578 

K209EV FX 92768 HADAR, NE 0000205579 

K211EI FX 92416 LAMAR, CO 0000205580 

K210DL FX 93333 APPLE VALLEY, CA 0000205581 

W218CV 
FX 

93601 

FREDERICKSBURG, 

VA 0000205582 

W206BO FX 122915 DICKSON, TN 0000205583 

K217GD FX 142345 MARYSVILLE, CA 0000205584 

K220JK FX 88872 GARDENDALE, TX 0000205585 

K202DV FX 92023 BELLINGHAM, WA 0000205586 

K213EA FX 88509 ROSWELL, NM 0000205587 

K201FN FX 92539 DICKINSON, ND 0000205588 

K208EK FX 92264 PARSONS, KS 0000205589 

K203EF FX 92538 MOUNT VERNON, IL 0000205590 

K213EU FX 88124 FAYETTEVILLE, AR 0000205591 

K220HX FX 93753 FRANKLIN, NE 0000205592 

K266BI FX 93878 POLSON, MT 0000205593 

K225AV FX 139993 MIDLAND, TX 0000205594 

KGSF FM 92987 HUNTSVILLE, AR 0000205595 

K213CF FX 82789 GRANTS PASS, OR 0000205596 

KCNU FM 198794 SILVER CITY, ID 0000205597 

K276EF 
FX 

89084 

SAN BERNARDINO, 

CA 0000205598 

KJCF FM 106475 ASOTIN, WA 0000205599 

K260AO FX 139371 MCCALL, ID 0000205600 

K259AK FX 86398 CARSON CITY, NV 0000205601 

K229AF FX 71997 EUREKA, CA 0000205602 

K253CC FX 142401 RED BLUFF, CA 0000205603 

 




